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          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: There are people

          3  filing in and settling down, but I thought I would

          4  begin while you do that, given the lateness of the

          5  hour.  And let me begin by thanking the witnesses

          6  and the folks who have come here to watch the

          7  hearing. This is the problem with afternoon

          8  hearings.  You have to wait for the morning hearing

          9  to finish.  Or in this case, to take a break, so

         10  that we could begin our hearing time.  And I very

         11  much do appreciate your patience.

         12                 I know we have a couple of

         13  representatives of the Administration, who are

         14  planning to testify.  One or two, you know, come

         15  forward and take your seats and get settled.  But

         16  while I make a few opening remarks.

         17                 The purpose of the hearing today is

         18  to explore how we can help small businesses in New

         19  York City provide health insurance coverage to their

         20  employees.  There are many reasons, in my view, that

         21  we want to do this.  First, and most obviously, is

         22  we want those employees to be covered.  It is, to my

         23  mind, a shocking and disconcerting fact that you

         24  have a better chance of having health coverage if

         25  you live in Alabama, than if you live in New York
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          2  State.  We like to think of ourselves here in New

          3  York as the leaders and progressives, meaning that

          4  we look out for our population.  But I think we are

          5  failing to do that in the case of health care.

          6                 And let me start right at the outset

          7  by saying, I understand that we are a City

          8  government here, and there's a national government

          9  that really needs to take responsibility.  I say

         10  quite clearly, that the Congress and the President

         11  should be guaranteeing health care coverage to every

         12  American.  And I believe it is a matter of time

         13  until they do that, because the people of the

         14  country will stand for it no longer.

         15                 But until that day comes, I don't

         16  believe that federal inaction is an excuse for local

         17  inaction.  We've got to do what we can to fill the

         18  gap, recognizing that we cannot undertake to do

         19  everything that the federal government can and

         20  should do.  I recognize that.  And we shouldn't set

         21  out to say we're going to fill the role the

         22  government should be playing.  But nor should we

         23  say, well, it's up to the feds, and so this is just

         24  simply not our problem.  I think there are

         25  meaningful things that the City can be doing to help
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          2  fill the gap, and that's what we're going to talk

          3  about here today.

          4                 One reason, as I said, and the most

          5  pressing, is simply to get those employees coverage.

          6    A second reason is to help the small businesses.

          7  Because we had a  --  and we will hear from the

          8  Chambers of Commerce throughout the City, the second

          9  panel today, what I believe  --  I'm sure they will

         10  tell you, is what they have told me, and other City

         11  Council Members prior to this, is for their members,

         12  the inability to provide health care coverage is a

         13  major competitive disadvantage.  Routinely,

         14  businesses lose good employees because those

         15  employees will take jobs even if they pay less in

         16  wages, if they have health coverage.  And of course,

         17  that makes  --  we all know this from our own lives.

         18    If you've got a family, you need a job that's

         19  going to give you health coverage. And even if it's

         20  not the job you would like, even if it's not the job

         21  that pays as well as another opportunity that

         22  doesn't have health care coverage, that's a choice a

         23  lot of people are going to take.  And it means for

         24  small businesses, their ability to attract workforce

         25  is badly impaired.
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          2                 And moreover, we know that small

          3  business owners are by and large, these are people

          4  who their business is their family. Their employees,

          5  they care about them.  They want to provide

          6  coverage.

          7                 And then you see businesses that try

          8  and do that, because they feel like it's the right

          9  thing to do.  They feel like it is competitively

         10  important to be able to offer that to their

         11  employees, and then, as just happened in the last

         12  several years, they see their costs going up 16

         13  percent, 18 percent.  And now, all of a sudden, they

         14  can't balance their books.

         15                 So we have got to, I believe, we've

         16  got to find a way to provide some help to small

         17  businesses.  That is the purpose of this hearing.

         18  We have, I think, some of us in the Council have

         19  some very specific ideas about how to do that.  I

         20  really believe that we should be taking some of the

         21  programs that have been  -- you know, the path-

         22  breaking programs that have been started by some of

         23  the folks out in the nonprofit world, the Chambers

         24  of Commerce and others, and take those and add to

         25  them.  Add some City resources that will enable,
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          2  number one, cheaper coverage for the people that are

          3  already getting coverage through the Chamber of

          4  Commerce.  And number two, more people to be

          5  covered.   So that's what I certainly want to focus

          6  on, but we will get to that as the hearing goes on.

          7                 We of course are joined here by Maria

          8  del Carmen Arroyo, and Helen Sears, both members of

          9  Committee on Health, I would expect.  And of course,

         10  Council Member Miguel Martinez, from the Committee

         11  on Health.  I spoke earlier today with Council

         12  Member Rivera who Chairs the Health Committee.  He

         13  had a  --  not an emergency, but something came up

         14  in his district that he needed to attend to.  And

         15  so, he is not going to be joining us today.  But he,

         16  I know, is very, very eager to pursue this topic as

         17  well.

         18                 Would any of the other Council

         19  Members want to make opening remarks?  If not, let's

         20  go ahead and hear from, I believe we have with us

         21  Marjorie Cadogan.  Thank you.  Marjorie Cadogan from

         22  the Department of Health, I guess.

         23                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: No.  The

         24  Mayor's Office of Health Insurance Access.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I'm sorry.  From
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          2  the Mayor's Office of Health Insurance Access.  And

          3  Michael Hecht, from the Department of Small Business

          4  Services.  And I know we are joined by someone else

          5  as well.  By Mark Newhouse, as well, from the

          6  Department of Small Business Services.

          7                 So in whatever order you would like

          8  to, please go ahead and present.

          9                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: Thank you

         10  Chairman Yassky.  I am Marjorie Cadogan, Executive

         11  Director of the Mayor's Office of Health Insurance

         12  Access, known as MOHIA.  With me this afternoon is

         13  Michael Hecht, Assistant Commission for the New York

         14  City Business Solutions at the Department of

         15  Business Services; and Mark Newhouse, also from the

         16  Department of Small Business Services.

         17                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         18  speak before you today on small business access to

         19  health care.  We welcome the opportunity to join you

         20  in this important discussion on an issue that is on

         21  the forefront of concern to individuals, families,

         22  businesses, and policy makers alike.  Health

         23  insurance access.  As you know, this issue is a

         24  priority for the Mayor, who has my office actively

         25  involved in shaping and coordinating private and
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          2  public health insurance initiatives with public and

          3  private sector partners.

          4                 Before I delve into a more detailed

          5  description of some of the key health care access

          6  problems for small businesses, and for that matter,

          7  sole proprietors and individuals with multiple

          8  employers, let me restate something that I shared

          9  during previous Council hearings.  We know that the

         10  problem of the uninsured is a national problem, as

         11  you stated yourself, Chairman Yassky.  And long-

         12  term solutions need to involve federal and state

         13  governments, as well as employers.  New York State

         14  is doing better than other parts of the country.

         15  Unlike most states, employer- sponsored coverage has

         16  been holding steady, and the number of uninsured has

         17  been gradually declining.

         18                 New York successes in expanding

         19  access to health insurance coverage have relied on

         20  forging multi- sector partnerships, maximizing

         21  federal participation, and paying close attention to

         22  cost and affordability.  As we prepare to undertake

         23  new initiatives to reduce the number of New Yorkers

         24  without health insurance, we must continue to build

         25  on this tradition of strategic collaboration.
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          2                 Current estimates of the number of

          3  non- elderly New York City residents without health

          4  insurance range from 1.25 to 1.7 million.  Certain

          5  sectors in New York City have higher rates and

          6  concentrations of uninsured workers.  For example,

          7  44 percent of workers in construction, and 38

          8  percent of workers in the arts, entertainment,

          9  recreation, accommodations, and food services arenas

         10  lack health coverage.  The wholesale/retail trade,

         11  education, health and social services industries

         12  also employ a large number of uninsured workers.

         13  Other subgroups of workers and residents with high

         14  uninsurance rates are immigrants, young adults,

         15  Latinos, and Asians.

         16                 Approximately three- quarters of the

         17  uninsured are members of working families.  Many of

         18  the City's uninsured adults work part- time jobs

         19  that are unlikely to ever provide employer sponsored

         20  insurance.  Still, a large number, an estimated

         21  600,000, are full- time, full year workers, and two-

         22  thirds of them are low wage workers earning less

         23  than $11 per hour.  We know that employees of

         24  smaller firms are significantly less likely to have

         25  health insurance coverage.  In fact, nearly  a third
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          2  of all workers in businesses with fewer than ten

          3  employees are uninsured, low- wage workers.

          4                 We are actively engaged in increasing

          5  access to health insurance for the City's working

          6  individuals, sole proprietors, and small businesses,

          7  especially those that employ low- wage workers.

          8  Although average 2006 premium costs for small

          9  businesses are approximately $400 for individual

         10  coverage, and $1,200 for family coverage, many

         11  businesses are able to purchase health insurance

         12  benefits for their employees through the standard

         13  small group market.  Other small businesses, sole

         14  proprietors, and working individuals take advantage

         15  of the five unique options available in New York

         16  City:  HealthPass, Healthy New York, Brooklyn

         17  HealthWorks, LIA Health Alliance, and Working

         18  Today's Freelancers Union.

         19                 The most important health insurance

         20  resource for small businesses that employ low- wage

         21  workers is New York State's Healthy New York

         22  program.  Healthy New York was developed in 2000, to

         23  create more affordable options for uninsured State

         24  residents, and how offers the lowest premium costs

         25  in the small group markets. Average New York City
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          2  rates for an individual worker or small business

          3  employee are $221, and range from $187 to $288.

          4  Average family rates are currently $661.

          5                 Small business employees, individual

          6  workers, and sole proprietors who meet income

          7  standards and other eligibility restrictions can

          8  purchase the discounted insurance from all 11 HMOs

          9  operating in the City, and GHI, who voluntarily

         10  introduced an EPO option last year.

         11                 Healthy New York, a State subsidized

         12  program, is an important coverage vehicle because it

         13  effectively targets uninsured, low- to- moderate

         14  wage workers.  Healthy New York has the lowest

         15  premium cost of any standard small business product,

         16  and has room to grow.  Therefore, we are actively

         17  engaged in making sure that the program's great

         18  potential for increased enrollment is fulfilled.

         19  MOHIA continues to intensify efforts to promote

         20  Healthy New York, and all of the special options for

         21  small business and individuals, through partnerships

         22  with City agencies and private entities.  Examples

         23  of outreach activities include showcasing these

         24  options at the Department of Small Business Services

         25  Business Solution Centers, the Department of
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          2  Consumer Affairs' licensing center, and other

          3  venues, such as the Staten Island Ferry Terminal.

          4                 MOHIA also educates business

          5  development organizations and groups of businesses

          6  about the options through special presentations and

          7  workshops.  As a result of this work, and other

          8  critical initiatives, last year, Healthy New York

          9  enrollment doubled in New York City.  The program is

         10  now growing faster in New York City than in other

         11  parts of the State, but there is more we can do to

         12  take full advantage of this State- subsidized

         13  coverage expansion initiative.

         14                 The Administration is working with

         15  the New York State Department of Insurance to change

         16  criteria for participation in Healthy New York so

         17  that more of the City's small businesses can

         18  participate.  MOHIA is also working to foster more

         19  effective marketing and enrollment of Healthy New

         20  York products by establishing the capacity for

         21  HealthPass to incorporate Healthy New York products

         22  into their choice model.

         23                 Developed as a MOHIA incubator

         24  project six years ago, and administered by the New

         25  York Business Group on Health, HealthPass offers
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          2  small businesses and their employees a choice of

          3  more than 30 plans that fit a range of medical needs

          4  and budgets. This new enrollment initiative will

          5  engage HealthPass's large broker network in

          6  marketing efforts, and will also make the low cost

          7  Healthy New York options more appealing for small

          8  business owners, because not all owners or workers

          9  will have to enroll in the same plan.  In the long

         10  run, many of those that initially signed up for

         11  Healthy New York products may end up transitioning

         12  to standard small group products offered by

         13  HealthPass.

         14                 In addition to our Guide to Health

         15  Insurance Options for New York City's Small

         16  Businesses, Sole Proprietors and Working

         17  Individuals, copies of which I have with me, we are

         18  working with the State Insurance Department to

         19  develop a public information campaign for New York

         20  City.

         21                 We recognize that health insurance is

         22  a critical component to economic development.

         23  Businesses, especially the small businesses that are

         24  now a dominant force in both the diversification of

         25  the City's economy and overall job growth, benefit
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          2  because employee coverage strengthens their ability

          3  to sustain a workforce necessary for the stability

          4  and future growth.

          5                 The Mayor is committed to structuring

          6  the most effective involvement of the City in

          7  addressing the issue of small business access to

          8  health care, and decreasing the number of uninsured.

          9    This involves the City recognizing the complexity

         10  and long- term nature of the problem, and continuing

         11  efforts to expand access to the unique options that

         12  now exist for small businesses, sole proprietors,

         13  and working individuals.

         14                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         15  testify.  And I'm happy to answer any questions that

         16  you may have.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, thank you

         18  very much Ms. Cadogan.  And I know some other

         19  Committee Members have questions. So I'm just going

         20  to ask one question, and then we'll move on to

         21  everybody else.  And then I'll maybe follow up at

         22  the end.

         23                 I have a bunch of questions about

         24  data that if we don't get to, I'll follow you up

         25  with written questions.  Really about how many small
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          2  businesses and small business employees there are

          3  that do and don't provide health care.  And where

          4  they're located.  But let me describe to you a

          5  proposal, and get your reaction to it.  This is

          6  something I know we've discussed at the Mayor's

          7  Office.  So much for the office budget raise.  There

          8  is goes.  We'll have to  --  I know we've provided

          9  this to the Affairs staff, and we had some

         10  discussion about with DSBS last year, is to focus on

         11  businesses in the industrial development zones,

         12  where there's a clear, and I think, very appropriate

         13  City policy to try and help industrial business grow

         14  and develop.

         15                 What would the Administration

         16  position be on a proposal to target those businesses

         17  with a much more heavily subsidized health care

         18  product than is currently available from things like

         19  Healthy New York and   --  it's not Brooklyn Works,

         20  but the Brooklyn Chamber of Commerce program.  And

         21  right now, I guess the average, using your numbers,

         22  is somewhere around maybe $2,500 a year for an

         23  individual policy, and $8,000 for a family policy,

         24  if I get it right, from your numbers.

         25                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: On
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          2  average.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: On average.  Even

          4  though that's a lot better than available elsewhere,

          5  are still pretty steep numbers, obviously.  First a

          6  small business trying to survive.

          7                 What would be your reaction to a

          8  proposal to use City dollars to drive that cost down

          9  $1,000 or $1,500 a year for an individual.  Four

         10  thousand, maybe, for family coverage.  For

         11  businesses in the targeted industrial areas.  What

         12  would be your reaction to that?

         13                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: Well

         14  speaking on behalf of the City, I'd have some real

         15  questions.  First, about even in targeting those

         16  geographic areas, what kind of businesses are we

         17  targeting?  And what's the employee mix, in terms of

         18  reaching low income workers in those areas, as well

         19  as sole proprietors or others, part- time workers,

         20  et cetera.  I think you raise as many questions by

         21  the proposal as perhaps you answer, by offering the

         22  subsidy.

         23                 I think that it is not fiscally wise

         24  to put the City in a position of being a guarantor

         25  of subsidies for populations, particularly given the
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          2  City's own budget constraints, and as you

          3  acknowledge, and as I've said, the solution on the

          4  issues of availability and costs are not one that

          5  the local government can take on alone.  They're

          6  ones that we have to work in partnership with the

          7  State.  And at some point, with the federal

          8  government.

          9                 So in looking at how we address

         10  affordability, it would be further looking to work

         11  with the State on ways that we could perhaps, down

         12  the road, with hickory authorizations, look at

         13  affordability issues in the context of Healthy New

         14  York.

         15                 But I don't see putting the City as

         16  in the role of permanent subsidizer as an effective

         17  strategy for the City's role.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, okay.  And

         19  just sort of follow up on that, and then we'll move

         20  on.  I guess Council Member Arroyo will have the

         21  first questions.

         22                 But just when you say guarantor and

         23  permanent subsidy, I mean, to be clear, as I said,

         24  no question in my mind, ultimately, the solution

         25  here will be, and needs to be federal. That's not
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          2  happening you know, today, tomorrow, and it's not

          3  going to happen this year.  In that interim period,

          4  my position is, I do think it's a worthwhile

          5  investment of City dollars.  Particularly in the

          6  business sectors where we are really trying to hang

          7  on to businesses, to give them something they can't

          8  get anywhere else. The opportunity of affordable

          9  health care for their employees.

         10                 I think that works both to reduce the

         11  number of uninsured, and to bind those business to

         12  the City in a really powerful way.  And I guess what

         13  I heard you say just now is  -- you know, you said

         14   "permanent".  Every program we do is year by year.

         15  You do it, and if you feel it's not working the next

         16  year, you don't do it.  It's easier said than done.

         17  But it's right. Every program we do, we do it year

         18  by year, and you evaluate each year whether it's

         19  worth continuing.

         20                 Maybe we just kind of disagree

         21  whether that's a good use of dollars.  And okay, we

         22  do.

         23                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: We do.  I

         24  think we do.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.  I just
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          2  wanted to get that out there.  Council Member

          3  Arroyo.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Thank you Mr.

          5  Chairman.

          6                 Good afternoon.  In your testimony,

          7  you reference a premium cost of $400 for an

          8  individual, $1,200 for a family.  Are these monthly?

          9    What are we talking about in terms of --

         10                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: Those are

         11  monthly costs, yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: And when

         13  compared to the Healthy New York, the numbers are

         14  monthly also?

         15                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: Correct.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: What is the

         17  office doing to market this to the small businesses?

         18    And do you have comparisons of before and after,

         19  the number of small businesses that have employees

         20  covered under the Healthy New York program?

         21                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: Well, let

         22  me talk a bit about what we are doing to market all

         23  of these options.  Many of which we have found by

         24  experience, and going out to business groups, and

         25  other venues, are not well- known around the City.
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          2  We have developed a Guide to Health Insurance

          3  Options for New York City's Businesses, Sole

          4  Proprietors, and Working Individuals.  And if I

          5  might, have someone bring this up, so that you can

          6  see it, Council Member.

          7                 We have it in six languages.  And it

          8  is available not only on our website, but it is

          9  available at the New York City Business Solution

         10  Centers throughout the City.  It makes basic

         11  information available on the five options.  We make

         12  sure to get it out to the venues that we visit  --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: We need the

         14  English one.

         15                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: --

         16  Workshops  --  The English one, I think Council

         17  Member  --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Is it a

         19  package?

         20                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: --

         21  McMahon is holding.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: We're

         23  confused.

         24                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: Sorry.

         25  We have extra copies of the English one.  So that
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          2  you can read it.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Okay.  I had a

          4  meeting last Thursday in my district, with a group

          5  of home child care providers. And one of the   --

          6  it was about 50 of them.  They're self employed, so

          7  to speak.  Have no insurance.  And their first

          8  question they ask of me is, how can you help us

          9  identify a program that we can purchase in health

         10  insurance, and pension and a bunch of other stuff.

         11  They also want to buy houses.  I don't know how I'm

         12  going to do that, but   --  Would you recommend this

         13  as a useful tool for this group?

         14                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: I think

         15  that is a very helpful tool.  The goal of the tool

         16  is, one, to make New York City businesses and the

         17  uninsured working public aware that we have these

         18  unique benefits to us in New York City.  And also to

         19  give them some basic information so that they can

         20  triage what suits their needs, and then be able to

         21  contact those particular programs. And for that

         22  constituency that you were talking about, working

         23  today, may well have a program that might be useful

         24  to those daycare workers.  And again, the

         25  information is in the Guide.

                                                            24

          1  SMALL BUSINESS AND HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: They're

          3  actually taking care of the children in their homes.

          4  They're not in the daycare system. So is there a

          5  group, and office, that we can reach out to  --

          6                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: You can

          7  reach out to my office.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  --  To have

          9  someone come and speak to these  --

         10                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: We can

         11  have someone come to speak to --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: They're

         13  business women.  Take their profession very

         14  seriously.  And want very, very much to get

         15  themselves organized to be able to deal with the

         16  issue of health insurance for themselves and their

         17  families.  And a resource like this and/or

         18  information that they can use to make decisions

         19  about whether they want to participate or not is

         20  important.

         21                 So I very much would like  --

         22                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: We'd

         23  welcome that opportunity or any other opportunities

         24  that Council Members would afford in that respect.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: So you don't
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          2  know how many businesses have benefitted from the

          3  Healthy New York.

          4                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: Well, as

          5  reflected, certainly earlier in my remarks, we have

          6  seen that there has been a virtual doubling of

          7  enrollment in Healthy New York in the past year,

          8  from prior years.  We also certainly have anecdotal

          9  information about businesses who have either come to

         10  our website and seen the brochure, or who have

         11  participated in any of the workshops that we've

         12  done, who have been able to connect to these

         13  resources as a course of that.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: We have some

         15  information that indicates that in the 2005, Health

         16  and Hospitals Corporation served fewer uninsured

         17  patients than in 2001.  Do we know if there's a

         18  correlation between this product being available and

         19  the numbers that HHC is reporting?  In terms of

         20  uninsured?

         21                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: Well, as

         22  much as I might love to take credit for that, I

         23  don't think it's fair of me to do that.  But I know

         24  that HHC has always been making a conscience effort

         25  to work to ensure as many of the uninsured
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          2  population that cross their threshold.  As we know,

          3  HHC is probably the first and last resort health

          4  provider for many of the undocumented population in

          5  the City.  But I know that HHC is doing great work

          6  through its HHC Options programs as well as through

          7  its financial offices to enroll as many of New

          8  Yorker who qualify for public programs.  And we've

          9  been talking to them about training their financial

         10  officers in understanding these options,

         11  particularly Healthy New York, as yet a further

         12  piece of the menu of work they can do to maximize

         13  coverage for those that they serve.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Well thank you

         15  for your honesty in not taking credit for it.  Thank

         16  you Mr. Chair.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you,

         18  Council Member Martinez.  And of course, I should

         19  note, we've been joined by the eminent Council

         20  Member from Staten Island, Michael McMahon. Council

         21  Member Martinez.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: The

         23  distinguished gentleman from Staten Island.

         24                 Just a follow up question on Council

         25  Member Arroyo. So you wouldn't have particularly  --
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          2    or would you plan to put together let's say,

          3  Citywide  --  you know, we usually like to see

          4  things by Councilmanic District.  In terms of

          5  enrollment of small businesses in these programs.

          6  Are you able to do that?  Or do you have that?

          7  Small businesses that are participating in the

          8  programs?

          9                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: Getting

         10  data at the Councilmanic level, I think, is

         11  difficult.  I don't know that data is really broken

         12  in those kind of district regions.  I think we may

         13  be able to gather Citywide data with regard to the

         14  number, and perhaps county data with regard to the

         15  number of businesses enrolled in these programs.

         16  But I think that may be as far as we could  --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: That would

         18  be good.

         19                 Then, I just want to follow up on

         20  part of your testimony, just for my FYI.  When you

         21  state that the Administration is working with the

         22  New York State Department of Insurance to change the

         23  criteria for participation in the Healthy New York,

         24  so that more New York City small businesses can

         25  participate.  What is the criteria?  What enables
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          2  them to be eligible to participate in Healthy New

          3  York?  And what does not?  And what do they need to

          4  meet?

          5                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: Right

          6  now, the criteria for participation in Healthy New

          7  York by small businesses is that the businesses must

          8  have 30 percent of their employees earning under 250

          9  percent of poverty.  And I right now believe, for a

         10  family of four, that is in the higher $40,000 range.

         11    For individuals, it's the same  --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: I'm sorry.

         13  Can you give those number again?  For family,

         14  $40,000?

         15                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: I

         16  believe.  I'm going to stand corrected.  I'm going

         17  to look for that information so I don't, I'm not

         18  misquoted on that.  But it is 30 percent of the

         19  employees earning up to 250 percent of the poverty

         20  level.  So they have to have a modicum of low- wage

         21  workers.  Low to moderate wage workers in their

         22  workforce.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: And then how

         24  do they measure that criteria?  How do they

         25  determine that?
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          2                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: Based on

          3  wages.  Based on wages of the employees in their

          4  business.  For individuals, there's also a program

          5  that's available for individuals, and the same

          6  criteria applies.  It's available for individuals

          7  who earn up to 250 percent of the poverty level.

          8  And I believe for individuals that is about $34,000.

          9    I think that's the number.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: And that  --

         11    you know, the Council, when we did the Health

         12  Security Act for grocery stores, supermarkets, and

         13  medium size, and so forth, there was a lot of

         14  concern in terms of the impact.  The kind of impact

         15  that that was going to have on those stores having

         16  to pay for the insurance, and so forth.  Now I

         17  understand that by combining small businesses, to

         18  many other programs that are current in the State,

         19  but do the small businesses have to put a percentage

         20  of the money for the health insurance for their

         21  employees for this program also?  When they qualify?

         22                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: In

         23  Healthy New York, for the small businesses, there is

         24  a employer participation requirement.  Yes, I

         25  believe it's 50 percent.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Fifty

          3  percent?

          4                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR  CADOGAN:

          5  Contribution towards the coverage.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Okay.  The

          7  concern here in many communities in small business

          8   --  you know, obviously, we want as many New

          9  Yorkers to have access to health insurance and

         10  health coverage.  But at the same time, we also want

         11  to balance that with maintaining the viability of

         12  keeping these small businesses open.  And I know

         13  that, you know, speaking to many of the small

         14  business owners in our communities, and you know,

         15  looking at the escalating rents in many of the small

         16  business pay, you know, there's a balancing there.

         17  And I'm glad that maybe within that formula of

         18  discussion that the Administration is taking on with

         19  the State in terms of the criteria, that some of

         20  those economic aspects are also considered.  Because

         21  absolutely, I mean, there's no question that one,

         22  this body, and from what I see, I also want to

         23  commend the Administration, I didn't know of your

         24  office.  I was just asking Council Member, my

         25  colleague, that I wasn't aware that the Mayor had
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          2  established this office.

          3                 So absolutely, the Administration

          4  must be commended, and this body is committed to

          5  ensuring that most New Yorkers have access to health

          6  insurance, and so forth.  But at the same time,

          7  there's that concern as we try to balance that act,

          8  how we commit to continue to have these small

          9  businesses, mom/pop stores open, and remain in our

         10  community, you know, with the high economics of

         11  operating a business already.

         12                 So I am glad to hear that you're

         13  having these discussions with the State in terms of

         14  criteria.  I would just ask that that also be part

         15  of the discussion, in terms of criteria, in terms of

         16  the high cost.

         17                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: Well, I

         18  think your point is very well taken, Council Member.

         19    And that's a piece of why we are working with the

         20  State, to change the eligibility criteria,

         21  recognizing particularly that in New York City,

         22  we're talking about a higher cost of doing business

         23  than in other parts of the State. We're talking

         24  about a higher cost of living than many other parts

         25  of the State.  And we're talking about
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          2  proportionately, more dollars are spent on health

          3  insurance than other parts of the State.  So that

          4  your point is well taken.  It is folded into our

          5  conversation about why we need a change to the

          6  criteria.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you.

          8  And  --  I'm sorry, Mr. Chair.  And the small

          9  business solution.  It's part of the whole process

         10  in terms of reaching out to the small businesses, to

         11  let them know of their options.  Is that part of the

         12  package that you guys put together?

         13                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: Very much

         14  so, but I'll let my colleague speak to that.

         15                 MR. HECHT: Yes, it is.  Actually,

         16  through Business Solutions within the last 18

         17  months, we've handled about a little over 26,000

         18  service requests from small businesses.  Five

         19  percent of which are workforce related, in one way

         20  or another.  And we make it a practice in handling

         21  those service requests, wherever possible, to

         22  promote employer health insurance products to our

         23  clients, even if they come in the door with another

         24  concern, whether that's a hiring need, or some other

         25  workforce- related issue, we will make sure that our

                                                            33

          1  SMALL BUSINESS AND HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  clients are informed of the programs that Ms.

          3  Cadogan described.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you

          5  Mr. Chair.  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you.

          7  Council Member Sears.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you Mr.

          9  Chair.

         10                 Just a few very short questions.  Can

         11  you categorize for me, exactly the small business

         12  community?  And exactly what does that mean in terms

         13  of the number of employees?  What is the minimum,

         14  and what is the maximum?

         15                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: Well, you

         16  again, ask a wonderful question, because the

         17  definition of small business varies depending on who

         18  you speak to.  When we speak about small business in

         19  the context of insurance, we're speaking about

         20  businesses that employ two to 50 employees.  That's

         21  a definition that exists in the Health Insurance

         22  Portability and Accountability Act.  That's a

         23  definition that is used by the Department of

         24  Insurance, when they're talking about small

         25  business, small market insurance.  But there are
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          2  other players that define small business with higher

          3  numbers.  I know that BSBA, depending on industry,

          4  can define small business anywhere from 100 to 500

          5  employees.  But when I speak about small business,

          6  I'm speaking about the two to 50 employee group.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: So the numbers

          8  that we're looking at and you talk about the

          9  different options, --

         10                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: Are

         11  focused on that group.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: For that.  I

         13  would have to agree with Councilman Martinez,

         14  because I mean, I have quite a few commercial areas

         15  in the district, and certainly this would hold true

         16  Citywide.  And in one area, I must have over 300

         17  businesses in a two- block ration.  However, I don't

         18  think there's probably more than five that run those

         19  businesses in each one.  They're mom and pop.

         20  Actually, they're the mother, they're the father.

         21  They're the son.  They're the daughter.  They're

         22  jewelry stores.  They are restaurants.  They're sari

         23  shops.  You know, I could go on.  And it's a very,

         24  very dynamic community.  And when I look at the

         25  premiums here, how is it possible  --  let's say
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          2  they  --  let's just say it's an employer who has

          3  employees.  And has two or three other employees to

          4  man his business.  How do they pay such premiums

          5  when we know that those employees that are manning

          6  the shop are earning less than $34,000.  The

          7  employer has no insurance for them. Nor do they

          8  actually earn the salaries that can afford them to

          9  buy those insurance.  And I could say that in our

         10  experience here in mine and the communities

         11  throughout the City, the biggest problem are those

         12  numbers.

         13                 When an employer has 50, that's like

         14  breaking down youth into different age groups.

         15  There's a difference between five manning a store

         16  and having 50 employees.  Very big difference.  The

         17  profits are different.  There's everything.  And

         18  those 50 employees don't have insurance, and that's

         19  why we just can't have in the food industry, 50

         20  employees or less, there have to be insurance

         21  coverage to some degree.

         22                 So I think a big issue, for me, and

         23  it may be for all of us, since we represent 51

         24  communities in the City of New York, that most of

         25  our businesses do not have 50 employees.  And I'm
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          2  not talking about industries.  I'm talking about the

          3  cleaners, the small restaurants, the hardware store,

          4  the small grocery store, the hard goods, the small

          5  goods.  Those are our small businesses in our

          6  communities.  The industries are located someplace

          7  else.  And that is a very big problem.  And when I

          8  look at the premiums and I'm not criticizing them,

          9  because I think the effort has been tremendous, but

         10  I could go clear across here for the different

         11  options, and for an individual, it starts from

         12  $1,707 per year, going up to $1,922.52.  I am

         13  looking on page 14 of a report, of your report.

         14  Yes, it's a Health Committee report that I'm looking

         15  at.  We have it here.  Right.

         16                 Now that, if they had four employees,

         17  having to pay that, with the amount of what the

         18  rents are in the City of New York, where half of

         19  them are paying half of their income in rent, how

         20  does an employer get to do this?  And I don't say

         21  that critically, because it's really a dilemma for

         22  me.  And the biggest concern is that when the

         23  employer and the employee don't share the cost, I

         24  can tell you it falls to the City to cover it, and

         25  we cannot continue to assume the responsibilities of
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          2  business when it comes to their employees.  And I

          3  say that all the time.  That doesn't mean that we

          4  don't look at what we want to do, it just means that

          5  we look at how we resolve the problem.  And I don't

          6  have an answer, but I'm looking at your effort,

          7  which is a good one, but it seems to me, it would be

          8  addressing the larger businesses, that have 20, or

          9  30, or 40 people, and not the five and six employees

         10  that most of the small businesses in communities

         11  have in their businesses.  And we don't seem to have

         12  a provision for them.

         13                 It would seem that we need to

         14  categorize the small business for communities, and

         15  for government sake.  So that there are different

         16  options within those very specific categories.  It

         17  would seem to me that becomes more realistic than

         18  having four as to contrasted to 50.  I think that's

         19  a big difference.  And as I said, that I think that

         20  it certainly is a good start and you are to be

         21  commended for what has been done.  But I don't think

         22  that that addresses the issue of the truly, truly

         23  small business community, where the numbers are very

         24  small in staff.  Very small, below 20. Below 15.

         25  And yet, their business costs in the City of New
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          2  York have mounted increasingly. The rents have

          3  skyrocketed, the utilities have skyrocketed, and

          4  they can barely make a living for themselves, let

          5  alone having to take care of their staff.

          6                 And that's what I think at some

          7  point, if you made direct some of this to those very

          8  small communities, and how do we deal with that.

          9  Because the City is becoming responsible for those

         10  employees.  Because it's always better to have a

         11  healthy community than to have a sick one.  But we

         12  have to look at how we can help the business

         13  community meet those obligations.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Do you have a

         15  response to that?

         16  Because --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I know, I said

         18  a mouthful.

         19                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: I commend

         20  you on your statement.  I'm not sure, Council Member

         21  that was a question.  But I commend you on your  --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: It was a

         23  combination of both.

         24                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: I commend

         25  you on your statement, because it does recognize
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          2  that small businesses in New York City are not one

          3  thing.  They're not homogeneous.  They have

          4  different profiles.  All of us need to understand

          5  those, on the City Administration side as well as

          6  the Councilmanic side.  And that the employee base

          7  within small businesses also ranges.  We are talking

          8  about businesses that have some modicum of full-

          9  time employees, and then businesses that are largely

         10  more made up of part- time employees.  So that

         11  figuring out the City's role in leveraging what's

         12  available, and in working with the State and federal

         13  government to develop more affordable or additional

         14  options, is the challenge that we face.

         15                 And that is something that we are

         16  commended to.  I think that the concern about

         17  putting the City in the role of being a continual

         18  subsidizer of health insurance for those businesses,

         19  poses the same risk on one side that we were also

         20  concerned about when we testified with regard to the

         21  Health Care Security Act, frankly, in terms of the

         22  ability of those dollars that were designated to be

         23  allocated by businesses for health care, whether

         24  that would go the full degree to provide health

         25  coverage, and thereby really, truly eliminate the
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          2  City's problem of having to pick up health care for

          3  uninsured individuals.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Yes.  Can I just

          5  pick up on something that Council Member Sears said

          6  that is really critical. She said, and this must be

          7  the case.  That we actually do end up picking up the

          8  costs of many of the uninsured employees when they

          9  show up at an HHC facility.  Do you disagree with

         10   --  You agree with that.

         11                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: I agree

         12  that we do pick up either by virtue of bad debt and

         13  charity care, or other means from that cost.  And

         14  some of that cost may be inevitable, given the

         15  undocumented population that exists in New York

         16  City.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: If I may --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Please.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: We do not

         20  really get compensated for bad debt charity pool.

         21                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: Certainly

         22  not to the full extent that we would  --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: The formula is

         24  so unbalanced with that and with the reimbursement.

         25  So to a large extent, when they come into an HHC
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          2  facility, it is primarily the cost of an HHC to

          3  cover that.  Because the formulas for the

          4  reimbursement are so out of whack that it hardly

          5  covers an eighth of the cost of the Emergency Room.

          6                 Thank you Mr. Chair.  But I just felt

          7  that that was important to note, because the HHC

          8  does bear a lot.  Over 90 percent of the cost if not

          9  more.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: Mr. Chairman,

         11  if I could just pipe in out of turn, but that is

         12  true everywhere except for Staten Island, which does

         13  not have an HHC facility.  And therefore, we get

         14  zero.  Our private hospitals have to bear the cost

         15  of that. And that's why our hospital  --  one is in

         16  bankruptcy.  So I just want the record to reflect

         17  that we're still waiting for HHC to open up a

         18  hospital in Staten Island so we can get some of

         19  that.  Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you.  So

         21  let me just briefly, because I want to hear from the

         22  business folks.

         23                 Do we  --  I just want to get some

         24  kind of numbers to get a basic context here.  How

         25  many small business employees are there in the City?
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          2  Does DSBS know that?

          3                 MR. HECHT: I believe that about 50

          4  percent of the workforce is employed by small

          5  businesses as we define it.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Fifty and under?

          7                 MR. HECHT: Private sector, yes.  So

          8  that would be about -- probably about one and a half

          9  million.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And how many of

         11  those have employer- provided coverage?

         12                 MR. HECHT:  I don't know.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: That's not

         14  something we know?

         15  The City doesn't know how many small business  --

         16                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: That's

         17  not data that I have on hand right now.  I can get

         18  that for you.  What we do know is that employer-

         19  sponsored insurances remain the offering of   -- the

         20  employer- sponsored insurance offering has remained

         21  fairly stable since 2002 in New York City.  Unlike

         22  other parts of the State.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And do we have a

         24  guess at how many of those million and a half are on

         25  Medicaid?
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          2                 MR. HECHT: Are covered by Medicaid?

          3  No.

          4                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: No, we

          5  have an overall --  there's now over 2.7 New Yorkers

          6  in the Medicaid program.  How many of those may be

          7  employed by small business, I don't have that. I

          8  have no  --  I don't have that number.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay, and then so

         10  we clearly wouldn't know, or even have any kind of

         11  estimate for how many of those one and a half

         12  million are generating HHC costs, and what the

         13  magnitude of that we could go back and construct.

         14  I'd be curious about what your best estimate of that

         15  is.  Because to me, that's a pretty critical number

         16  in evaluating the merit of an investment in bringing

         17  small business employees into the private coverage

         18  world. I think you want to know how much you think

         19  you're reducing your Medicaid burden, how much do

         20  you think you're reducing your HHC burden.  That

         21  just strikes me as you know, pretty basic.  Without

         22  that, it's hard to really evaluate the cost benefit.

         23  So I guess i would ask if you could just whatever

         24  your best estimate of those numbers would be, I'd

         25  love to know it.
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          2                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: Well, we

          3  can certainly look at that.  I think we cannot

          4  forget the nature of the undocumented population in

          5  the City.  The population that is most challenging

          6  in terms of serving their health care needs, and

          7  that certainly, we do not avoid the necessary

          8  provision of service to the undocumented population.

          9    And those expenses, by any work we may do on these

         10  health insurance options, or that we do in the

         11  public health insurance programs.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.  Well, I

         13  thank you very much.  I know you've been very

         14  patient, and I really appreciate that.  I do want to

         15    --  I think we could go back and forth more about

         16  the cost benefits, and kind of elaborate the

         17  argument here. You know, I would just leave it said

         18  that I hope this is something that you're mind isn't

         19  completely closed on.  Because I do really believe

         20  that it is not enough of an answer to say we're

         21  going to wait for the feds to take care of the

         22  problem.  I mean, absolutely, they have to do that.

         23  But I think if there are meaningful things that the

         24  City can do in the interim, we ought to be doing

         25  that. And that is as sound an investment as a lot of
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          2  the other investments we make.  And just in terms of

          3  you say, guarantor or permanent, to be clear, you

          4  know, I would support, and I have proposed, that we

          5  try that in this fiscal year.  And we see if it

          6  successful in bringing people into the private

          7  coverage world from HHC, from Medicaid.  We see if

          8  it  --  when we look at how the program plays out,

          9  then you're in a position to judge whether you think

         10  it's been worth the expense or not.  And if it

         11  isn't, then you don't do it the next year.

         12                 So that's a proposal that you know,

         13  we've put forward.  I'm as you know, and small

         14  business folks know, I'm certainly going to keep

         15  pursuing this in this year's budget process, and I

         16  look forward to discussing it more with your

         17  Commissioner and with you, Director, if you're

         18  available as we proceed toward the Executive Budget

         19  and adoption.

         20                 I thank you very much.  And I really

         21  do appreciate your being willing to come here and

         22  speak with us this afternoon. Thank you.

         23                 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CADOGAN: Thank

         24  you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Let's now hear
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          2   --  we have a few of the Chambers of Commerce.  We

          3  certainly have Kenneth Adams, from the Brooklyn

          4  Chamber of Commerce.  We have Raymond Irrera, from

          5  the Queens Chamber of Commerce.  Nancy Ploeger  --

          6  maybe she'll correct me  --  from the Manhattan

          7  Chamber of Commerce.  And we have Linda Baran, from

          8  the Staten Island Chamber of Commerce.

          9                 And why don't you also come up, sir.

         10  Norman Michaels, from Michaels and Associates.  And

         11  we'll have one large panel.  And if we could, let's

         12  start  --  I understand that Mr. Irrera, you have a

         13  pressing time commitment.  So why don't we hear from

         14  you, and then you can feel free to excuse yourself.

         15                 MR. IRRERA: I appreciate that Mr.

         16  Chairman.

         17                 Before I begin, let me just commend

         18  you and your Committee for even holding these

         19  hearings.  I think a vitally important issue for you

         20  to address.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you sir.

         22                 MR. IRRERA: Good afternoon Chairman

         23  Yassky.  Extend my greetings to Chairman Rivera.

         24  And the Members of the Health and Small Business

         25  Committees.  My name is Raymond Irrera.  And I am
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          2  the President of the Queens Chamber of Commerce.

          3                 For over four years in a row,

          4  employers in New York State have incurred a double-

          5  digit increase in health insurance premiums.

          6  Employers have been forced to respond to this

          7  increase in a variety of ways.  According to the

          8  2004 Kaiser Family Foundation Annual Survey, and a

          9  survey by the Business Council of New York,

         10  employers have taken steps, such as increasing the

         11  employee portion of the health care premiums,

         12  reducing the amount of benefits offered, and

         13  offering flexible spending accounts.  A very small

         14  percentage of the responding employers have even

         15  gone so far as to no longer offer their employees

         16  health insurance.

         17                 In order to assess the impact of

         18  these trends on Queens businesses, last year, the

         19  Queens Chamber's Health, Safety, and Environment

         20  Committee conducted a survey of our own membership.

         21  Please bear in mind that our membership consists of

         22  at least 1,300 businesses in Queens, most of whom

         23  are small businesses.

         24                 From the approximately 100 responses

         25  we received, 85.7 percent of the respondents  --
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          2  and this may go something towards your questions

          3  before  --  85.7 percent of the respondents offer

          4  their employees some type of health insurance

          5  benefit. Roughly 15.4 percent do not.  However, a

          6  potential bias in the survey could be that those who

          7  did not offer health insurance are less likely to

          8  respond at all to surveys such as this, and

          9  therefore, that number could be significantly

         10  higher.

         11                 Of the employers who do not provide

         12  health insurance, 42.9 percent cite the cost as the

         13  reason why.  The costs.  And that's getting close on

         14  to 50 percent of the employers. And 75.6 percent of

         15  the employers who do offer health insurance have

         16  their employees share in the costs.  Our survey also

         17  found that larger companies are more likely to

         18  provide health insurance to their employees than

         19  smaller businesses.

         20                 The consensus among our membership is

         21  that health insurance is costly, and it is the

         22  price, not the unwillingness to provide coverage

         23  which guides their decisions in the matter.

         24                 Our membership is comprised mostly of

         25  small businesses.  In a separate survey regarding
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          2  conducting business in New York City, the Queens

          3  Chamber found that health insurance and health care

          4  were listed as of paramount importance to business

          5  owners.

          6                 The Queens Chamber of Commerce would

          7  like to work with you to find solutions to these

          8  problems.  When employees are sick and cannot get

          9  proper care, it costs business owners money.

         10  Adequate health coverage would help alleviate this

         11  problem. However, affordable health insurance that

         12  business owners can offer to their employees is very

         13  hard to come by.  This puts smaller business  --

         14  and I appreciate your comments, Councilman Sears,

         15  regarding the smaller businesses  --  at a

         16  disadvantage in competing for, and retaining

         17  employees.

         18                 The Chamber supports the City Council

         19  investigating ways to assist small businesses with

         20  high costs of health care through subsidies or other

         21  incentives.

         22                 Hopefully, this hearing is a positive

         23  start to alleviating those problems.

         24                 Thank you for your time.  And I look

         25  forward to working with you in the future.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, thank you

          3  very much.  I just  --  let me ask you. When do you

          4  have to leave?  Immediately? Or can you wait till

          5  questions?

          6                 MR. IRRERA: If you would just accept

          7  my apologies, I'm afraid I have to leave.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.  Council

          9  Member Sears, very briefly, because I don't want to

         10  make the panel members wait.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: It's not a

         12  question.  I just wanted to thank Mr. Irrera.  He is

         13  in my borough.  He is the President of the Queens

         14  Chamber.  And I thank you for coming, because this

         15  was very important, and your testimony is.  And the

         16  Queens Chamber, like the other Chambers in the City

         17  are very concerned about health care packages for

         18  their employees, because they truly want to retain

         19  them.  They don't want to lose them.  So thank you

         20  for coming.

         21                 MR. IRRERA: Thank you.  Thank you for

         22  your comments before.  And Chairman Yassky, if you

         23  would like to pursue any of these matters, Kathy

         24  Moran, from the Queens Chamber staff may be able to

         25  sit in and continue the discussion if you would
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          2  prefer.

          3                 CHAIRMAN YASSKY: Well, okay.  Before

          4  you go, let me just ask you one question, which is,

          5  the proposal that this Committee has put forward to

          6  subsidize further, the type of plans like the

          7  Brooklyn plan, the HealthPass Plan, which would  --

          8  right now, as we said before, you're talking about

          9  roughly $2,000 for an individual policy, $4,000 to

         10  $8,000 using Ms. Cadogan's numbers, for a family

         11  policy.  If you could bring that down from $2,000 to

         12  $1,200 a year, and from $4,000 to $8,000 to $3,000

         13  to $5,000, for a family plan, do you think you would

         14  see your businesses, your members who now feel they

         15  can't afford it, do you think that would be a

         16  material difference?

         17                 MR. IRRERA: I think that would go a

         18  long way to enlisting much greater employer support.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you.  Well,

         20  again, I appreciate it, and I understand you have to

         21  go.

         22                 MR. IRRERA: Thank you very much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Let's have the

         24  remainder then of the panel testify and then we'll

         25  do questions at the end.
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          2                 Thank you.  Thank you.  And why don't

          3  we --

          4                 MR. IRRERA: I apologize, but I have

          5  to run.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you Mr.

          7  Irrera.

          8                 MR. ADAMS: Thank you Chairman Yassky.

          9    Good afternoon.  I'm Kenneth Adams, President of

         10  the Brooklyn Chamber of Commerce.  Thank you for

         11  this opportunity to speak before your Committees on

         12  this important subject.

         13                 And I'm going to read a statement,

         14  Chairman Yassky, and then I have data that might

         15  help answer some of the questions your raised in

         16  some of the earlier discussion.

         17                 Before health care experts,

         18  politicians, editorial page writers, and business

         19  leaders officially declared the "crisis of the

         20  uninsured", in Brooklyn, at least, small business

         21  owners had already taken action.  Faced with rising

         22  premiums they could no longer afford, they dropped

         23  their health plans, sent their workers into our

         24  public health system, and complained to us at the

         25  Chamber that the rising costs of health insurance
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          2  was the biggest impediment to their success.  Worse,

          3  they claimed, than high taxes, expensive energy, or

          4  exorbitant real estate costs.

          5                 The crisis of the uninsured is a huge

          6  problem in Brooklyn.  Our borough boasts more than

          7  37,000 employers, including the government, that

          8  yields some 460,000 jobs.  It's a small business

          9  economy.  Ninety percent of Brooklyn workers labor

         10  in small firms with fewer than 20 people on the

         11  payroll.

         12                 Based on data from the Kaiser Family

         13  Foundation, the Commonwealth Fund, and Marjorie

         14  Cadogan's MOHIA, the Mayor's Office of Health

         15  Insurance Access, we believe that there are more

         16  than 600,000 small business employees and their

         17  dependents in New York City, without health

         18  insurance.  And in Brooklyn, we estimate that number

         19  is 200,000.

         20                 These workers make just enough money

         21  to not qualify for most government subsidized plans,

         22  but not nearly enough to buy insurance themselves.

         23  And the boss just won't pay traditional employer-

         24  sponsored plan any more.  It has simply become much

         25  too expensive.
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          2            What's more, most low- wage workers, when

          3  asked if they want their company to pay for costly

          4  health insurance say, "No thanks".  In our

          5  experience, they would rather get a raise, cover

          6  expenses like rent, and food, and clothing.  This is

          7  no surprise, given the high cost of living in New

          8  York City, and the accessibility and quality of our

          9  public health care system, where the uninsured

         10  typically seek care.

         11                 So, for the past six years, we have

         12  worked at the Brooklyn Chamber of Commerce, on a

         13  strategy to address the concerns of small business

         14  owners in Brooklyn, that want to offer health

         15  insurance to their workers, but cannot afford

         16  traditional plans. And that plan, as you have, and

         17  others have referred to previously, is called

         18  Brooklyn HealthWorks.  Just to be confusing, since

         19  so many health insurance plans have similar names,

         20  we have seven other confusing names.

         21                 While others work on big bold

         22  solutions like nationalized health care, and

         23  universal coverage, as you, yourself has alluded to,

         24  solutions that might emanate from our nation's

         25  capital, our Brooklyn- rooted practicality suggests
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          2  that in the mean time, we create a new, sustainable

          3  low- cost health insurance plan for small

          4  businesses, with low- wage workers, whose costs are

          5  shared in a reasonable way by the employer,

          6  employee, taxpayers, and other funders.

          7                 To do this, the Brooklyn Chamber of

          8  Commerce partnered with GHI, Group Health

          9  Incorporated, and engaged the New York State's

         10  Healthy New York program, which again, Ms. Cadogan

         11  alluded, and further partnered with another City

         12  program she had mentioned, called New York City's

         13  HealthPass to create a unique public/private

         14  insurance plan, again, cobbling together the

         15  participation of all of these partners.  Yes, we

         16  uses some taxpayer's money, a grant from HRSA, which

         17  down in Washington, the Health Resources Services

         18  Administrations, to subsidize the HealthWorks

         19  premiums in a modest way.  Start- up grants from

         20  several foundations helped cover our marketing and

         21  operations expenses as we rolled out the program.

         22                 This partnership brings the

         23  HealthWorks price down to a level that allows small

         24  business owners and their workers to seriously

         25  consider once again buying health insurance.  A
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          2  basic but attractive benefits package closes the

          3  deal.  The insured worker now gets good health care

          4  coverage through and employer- sponsored GHI plan

          5  that is made affordable by this unique alignment of

          6  helpful partners.

          7                 Brooklyn HealthWorks can easily be

          8  expanded Citywide to an extent determined by the

          9  amount of funds dedicated to the premium subsidies.

         10  Not so different, Chairman Yassky, from the model

         11  you suggested earlier.  The current cost, by the

         12  way, of the subsidy in our plan is $380 per person,

         13  per year.  And I want to come back and reflect on

         14  what that number means at the end here. This

         15  expansion will not be as expensive as it sounds,

         16  since generally, it is more cost effective for

         17  people to be insured and receive preventive care,

         18  than for them to show up on the doorstep of an

         19  Emergency Room in the public hospital system.

         20                 Providing health care for more

         21  working New Yorkers by getting them insurance this

         22  way should create savings that offset the costs of

         23  these modest premium subsidies.

         24                 Success  --  I'm speaking now just to

         25  conclude on our own experience  --  does have this

                                                            57

          1  SMALL BUSINESS AND HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  cost.  We have exhausted both our premium subsidy

          3  and operating funds.  We did that by the end of

          4  February.  And new enrollment in our program was

          5  stopped on March 1st.  Some 29 days ago, and we are

          6  now turning people away as they approach us for this

          7  plan.  Confident that our Brooklyn HealthWorks

          8  works, however, we are currently seeking support

          9  from government partners, the State, here in the

         10  City, to reopen enrollment in Brooklyn HealthWorks,

         11  and possibly expand the initiative to other

         12  boroughs.

         13                 Thank you very much for your

         14  attention to this critical issue, and for the

         15  opportunity to present this update to you all on

         16  Brooklyn HealthWorks this afternoon.

         17                 And again, if there is any interest

         18  in a little more of the data, I have some other

         19  number and we can reflect and build on some of those

         20  numbers in my comments.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well thank you

         22  very much.  Let's hear the rest of the panel, but we

         23  certainly want to follow up.

         24                 Please.

         25                 MS. BARAN: Thank you.  Thank you
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          2  Chairman Yassky, and good afternoon everyone.  I'm

          3  Linda Baran, President and CEO of the Staten Island

          4  Chamber of Commerce.  The Chamber is the largest

          5  business organization on Staten Island, and we have

          6  900 business members.  Approximately 80 percent of

          7  our membership has under ten employees, obviously

          8  placing them into the category of small businesses.

          9                 As everyone knows the cost of health

         10  care has risen dramatically over the past several

         11  years.  The small business owner has been hurt by

         12  these rising costs as much as anyone.  These

         13  exorbitant costs have led many Staten Island Chamber

         14  of Commerce members to stop offering insurance to

         15  their employees.  This hampers their ability to

         16  attract the quality of workforce, and more

         17  importantly, it increases the number of uninsured

         18  residents on Staten Island.  This is one of several

         19  reasons why two hospitals on Staten Island are

         20  struggling financially.  As many of you know, Saint

         21  Vincent's on Staten Island has declared bankruptcy

         22  and is presently reviewing bids to be taken over.

         23                 In an effort to provide Chamber

         24  members some financial relief and insure more

         25  islanders, the Chamber began exploring potential
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          2  alternative plans.  We met with health care

          3  providers and explored what other Chambers offer in

          4  Upstate New York.  We also had several discussion

          5  with the U.S. Chamber of Commerce, and American

          6  Chamber of Commerce executives regarding plans and

          7  proposed legislation.

          8                 We reviewed Brooklyn HealthWorks,

          9  HealthPass, and other programs that could possibly

         10  benefit our membership.  Early in 2005, we put

         11  together a small working group health committee to

         12  examine the research that we had done.  We wanted

         13  their opinion on how the Chamber should proceed, and

         14  also to explore the market further for the Chamber.

         15  This committee consisted of insurance brokers,

         16  agents, the Richmond County Medical Society, and

         17  representatives from both our Island hospitals.  The

         18  committee examined the plans I just mentioned, and

         19  felt the enrollment restrictions involved with them

         20  would not be adequately assist the problems

         21  affecting our entire membership and Island as a

         22  whole.

         23                 The committee explained to the

         24  Chamber, that due to the amount of legislative

         25  mandates passed into law over the past several
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          2  years, the opportunity simply does not exist for the

          3  Staten Island Chamber of Commerce to partner with

          4  other Chambers, and offer major medical insurance at

          5  a reduced cost.  Which was our original goal.

          6                 A committee member put the Chamber in

          7  touch with Insurance Resource Group, who made a

          8  presentation to the Chamber on indemnity health

          9  plans, sometimes called "mini- meds".  These plans

         10  have affordable rates, but the coverage was deemed

         11  to be inadequate for this market by some committee

         12  members.  IRG took the committee's feedback, and

         13  made a presentation on a new plan in late 2005,

         14  which intrigued the committee.  The plan is a hybrid

         15  of the major medical coverages that are out there,

         16  and the mini- meds looked at during the middle of

         17  the year.

         18                 Each enrollee in the plan would have

         19  full GHI hospitalization, and Emergency Room

         20  coverage.  The mini- med portion would relate to

         21  doctor visits, prescriptions, X- rays, MRIs, et

         22  cetera.  This plan has four tiers, and would provide

         23  savings ranging from $1,000 to $6,000 per year for

         24  the employers and employees, depending on which tier

         25  they enroll in.
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          2                 I am pleased to report that this plan

          3  has received full committee and Chamber Board

          4  approval.  We are currently finalizing contractual

          5  obligations with IRG and will be releasing the plan

          6  in the coming weeks.

          7                 The plan centers around the suddenly

          8  popular consumer- driven health plans which are

          9  beginning to flood the market, especially in other

         10  regions of the country.  Health Savings Accounts and

         11  mini- meds are the current antidote to the health

         12  care crisis that plagues businesses throughout this

         13  country.

         14                 What we really need is a combination

         15  of federal legislation and reduced New York State

         16  mandates.  In the absence of that, the Chamber and

         17  other associations must continue to explore the

         18  market for alternatives.  We are currently

         19  monitoring two proposals in Washington, D.C.

         20  Regarding Association Health Plans. We are not going

         21  to sit idle while this issue is debated for the

         22  umpteenth time.

         23                 I fully acknowledge that the Staten

         24  Island Chamber of Commerce health plan is not the

         25  answer to the City's health care crisis, but I am
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          2  confident that it will increase the number of

          3  insured residents here, and this is an important

          4  first step.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well thank you

          7  very much. That's quite interesting.  We'll follow

          8  up.  Ms. Ploeger.

          9                 MS. PLOEGER: Religiously, for several

         10  years, we, at the Chamber, represent the small

         11  businesses here in Manhattan. There's probably close

         12  to 100,000 of them, and between all of our Chambers,

         13  we represent about 200,000 businesses in the City.

         14  That's again, just a rough guesstimate (sic).  We

         15  have effectively worked at the State level with our

         16  fellow Chamber execs across the State to encourage

         17  the Governor to include sole proprietors in group

         18  plans.  This was adopted, but this provision,

         19  actually "sunsetted" this past December.  We've held

         20  several insurance seminars, and continue to be

         21  concerned with the lack of alternatives for the

         22  small business owners and employees.

         23                 In addition, we have, and are

         24  attempting to bid out to carriers of sole proprietor

         25  plan, but again, the cost will not be at truly
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          2  affordable rates.

          3                 We recently completed a survey of our

          4  members, 80 percent of whom are businesses with less

          5  than 10 employees, and I dare say, that's probably

          6  the same MO that the other Chambers here at the

          7  table recognize.  And 72 percent of the respondents

          8  said that health care insurance premiums are the

          9  main obstacle to doing business.  This has been a

         10  consistent message for many years from our business

         11  owners.

         12                 I think it would be helpful for you

         13  to hear some of the direct comments.  Comments like,

         14   "The high cost of health insurance is our major

         15  obstacle.  I have to cut some benefits of the health

         16  insurance plan every year, and the cost still goes

         17  up. There seems to be no end in sight".

         18                 Or, "So many people avoid going into

         19  their own business because of the high cost of

         20  health insurance".

         21                 One owner states, "Health insurance

         22  costs are so high, that a small company is strapped

         23  to provide even basic coverage.  And as a company

         24  grows, health insurance can be close to ten percent

         25  or more of payroll, depending on the marital and
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          2  family status.  I cannot survive nor conduct

          3  business with this overhead".

          4                 And from a sole proprietor, "Health

          5  insurance is by far my most critical issue.  I have

          6  had to go without health insurance simply because I

          7  need to pay all the other kinds of insurance to stay

          8  in business.  At this point, my revenues are not

          9  enough to pay the high cost of health insurance.

         10  Therefore, each day I play Russian Roulette and hope

         11  that I don't get sick.  When I apply for HealthPlus,

         12  or other types of City insurance, I'm told I make

         13  too much money.  So this is extremely confusing,

         14  since I can barely keep a roof over my head".

         15                 And another, even more telling

         16  statement is, "Health insurance premiums are so high

         17  that I am unable to afford good help because I am

         18  unable to afford the premiums.  Consequently, I am

         19  forced to work with untrained labor force".

         20                 The majority of the comments

         21  regarding the health care were in relation to the

         22  expensive premiums, which seem to be increasing

         23  substantially every year.  Also, trying to sift

         24  through the pros and cons of each policy is too time

         25  consuming and confusing.  Deductibles, in- network
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          2  versus out- of- network, how much coverage to offer,

          3  et cetera. " I feel terrible that I can't pay my

          4  employees' health insurance.  They question why they

          5  should stay working for me if I can't provide this

          6  basic need.  But it would put me out of business to

          7  pay the premiums".

          8                 Products like Healthy New York help

          9  but in a limited way.  The plan is particularly

         10  flawed with regard to the subsidized versions which

         11  limits participation to the uninsured.  This doesn't

         12  help struggling small businesses who have previously

         13  gotten and provide health insurance, who are still

         14  being basically priced out of the market.

         15                 There are a number of nonprofit

         16  carriers, too, that have sprung up.  Some are

         17  legitimate, some are not.  And this too is a real

         18  problem.  A lot of people are being misled and

         19  scammed, especially via the Internet, to buy

         20  inexpensive, so- called health insurance which is

         21  not health insurance, but virtually worthless

         22  discount card.

         23                 And Health Savings Plans are now

         24  being rolled out here in New York, but there are

         25  limits on a higher deductible.  A thousand dollars
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          2  for individuals, and $2,000 for family coverage.

          3  Again, an unrealistic plan for most.

          4                 Ultimately, we are all just trying to

          5  plug the holes for the uninsured, and they federal

          6  government has to decide whether good health care

          7  and access to affordable premiums is a right or a

          8  privilege for the American people.  And right now,

          9  it's a privilege for those that can afford it.

         10  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you.  And

         12  why don't we hear from your testimony.  And I'll ask

         13  you to keep it very brief, and then we can get to

         14  questions.

         15                 MR. MICHAELS: I'm Norm Michaels, from

         16  the Business Council Benefits Group.  The Business

         17  Council is the largest Chamber north of New York

         18  City.  Just on the New York City borders. And we

         19  actually have all the same problems that the

         20  Chambers here in the City do.  What we have done in

         21  the past two and a half years, is to look for

         22  programs that are available.

         23                 All of you have a little green

         24  brochure that's out there.  One of the things that's

         25  in there is that two and a half years ago, we
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          2  convinced the Oxford to give us a sole proprietor

          3  program.  At the beginning of the initial effort.

          4  And it's been very successful.  It's not cheap.  But

          5  it's been very successful. And in fact, giving sole

          6  proprietors a program.

          7                 The biggest issue we have is cost.

          8  And cost is not going down.  Cost is going up.  The

          9  brochure doesn't give much in the way of discounts,

         10  but it does give a lot of information, and that's

         11  how we basically have positioned ourselves.

         12                 We have about 85 percent of our

         13  members are ten lives or less, and so, we're all in

         14  the small business of servicing the small

         15  businesses.  And what we have done as the Business

         16  Council Benefits Group, is gone to different

         17  associations to try to put together marketing muscle

         18  that the insurance companies would respect.  And it

         19  worked, but subsidy works a whole lot better.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.  First of

         21  all, thank you. I want to thank the whole panel.  I

         22  mean, every one of the testimonies was quite

         23  enlightening.  I think, Ms. Ploeger, those

         24  quotations really tell the whole story.  I mean,

         25  hearing it directly from business owners was  --  I
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          2  don't think you make the case more powerfully than

          3  that.  From business owners.  Of course they want to

          4  provide health care.  But they're in a rock and a

          5  hard place.  If they do it, they're not going to

          6  stay in business.  If they don't, they're going to

          7  lose the employees they want. And you know, that's

          8  not where they want to be.

          9                 Ken Adams, can I just ask you  --

         10  right now, you said you're subsidizing the  --  and

         11  I apologize, I called it the HealthPass, but it's

         12  HealthWorks.  The HealthWorks program is about you

         13  said $380 or roughly $400 a year less than would be

         14  available through the general State program.  Is

         15  that correct?

         16                 MR. ADAMS: That's correct.  You can

         17  think of it as a  --  we have a GHI Healthy New York

         18  product, which we in some ways, customize for

         19  Brooklyn.  It doesn't have all the same Healthy New

         20  York requirements.  And with our subsidy, that plan,

         21  instead of costing let's say $225 per person per

         22  month, we're selling it in the range of $177 to $190

         23  per person per month.  We actually have two plans,

         24  so that's why there's a range of prices.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And how many
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          2  folks have signed up?  What were the  --

          3                 MR. ADAMS: Over 700, until we had to

          4  curtail the enrollment.  And that was just last

          5  Fall.  We actually had more enrollment than we could

          6  handle, and we had done no marketing. Which I think

          7  illustrates this important point, that if you can

          8  bring the price down low enough through a subsidy

          9  model, people will come back to the table.  Because

         10  I think as has been said by others, everybody wants

         11  health insurance for their workers if they can

         12  afford it.  And I would add, just in response to an

         13  earlier comment, that in Brooklyn HealthWorks, the

         14  portion paid by the employer and the employee is

         15  free to be decided by each business. We don't have

         16  the 50 percent minimum requirement.  Interestingly,

         17  we have found that small business owners in our

         18  groups are quite small.  Ninety- five percent of

         19  them, the employer is paying one hundred percent of

         20  the premium.

         21                 When you take the requirement away,

         22  very interesting.  Counter intuitive sort of

         23  reaction, but you take the requirement away, we

         24  found that the premium is being paid by the

         25  employer.
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          2                 But again, I think we've proven that

          3  it's about price.  And if you bring the price down,

          4  employers will come back to the table.  Remember,

          5  again, we believe there are about 600,000 New

          6  Yorkers who work, and their dependents, who work and

          7  have no health insurance.  But they are working.

          8  They simply are in small businesses that can't

          9  afford to buy health insurance anymore, and with

         10  their wages, as has been said by Nancy and others,

         11  they're not about to go out and just buy health

         12  insurance with their paycheck. No one can afford to

         13  do that.

         14                 So, the market for this  --  there

         15  are about 80,000 small businesses, 80,000 employers

         16  in New York City, that are not offering health

         17  insurance, by our math, and so there's just a

         18  tremendous employment of 600,000 people, there's a

         19  tremendous market for it.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I'm sorry.  Your

         21  numbers  -- you think there are 80,000 employers

         22  that don't offer health insurance?

         23                 MR. ADAMS: That's right.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And those are  --

         25    I'm going to guess  --  those are virtually all
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          2  small businesses.

          3                 MR. ADAMS: That's exactly right.  I'm

          4  sorry to put the number out in that order.  I would

          5  go this way.  Using again, Ms. Cadogan's low end

          6  estimate, that there are one million, two hundred

          7  and fifty thousand New York City residents that are

          8  uninsured.  Okay.  Meaning no Medicaid, no

          9  insurance.  Of those, we believe that some 600,000

         10  of them, a little less than half, are working.

         11  They're employed.  They would normally have employer

         12  sponsored plans, but the small business owner can no

         13  longer afford that.  And they are employed by some

         14  80,000 firms.  Just basic ballpark figure, at a

         15  Citywide level.

         16                 I'm sorry.  I don't want to overwhelm

         17  the discussion with statistics, but that's to give

         18  it a Citywide scale.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And what  --  so

         20  if it's just very quickly, if it's $400 and you're

         21  saying you've got about 700 people, or 700 firms, --

         22                 MR. ADAMS: No, 700 people or 150

         23  firms, something like that.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Yes.  So

         25  you're talking about $2.8 million, roughly, or $3
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          2  million a year to keep that going?

          3                 MR. ADAMS: Well, yes.  I mean, here's

          4  the interesting issue, which you and I, as you know,

          5  have debated about subsidy models.  You know, one

          6  can't do a subsidy for a brief period of time.  It

          7  isn't really fair to give people health insurance

          8  and then take it away because you can no longer

          9  subsidize the plan.  So we do it in three- year

         10  increments.  And so, for example, at the rate  --

         11  to expand a sustained Brooklyn HealthWorks, just to

         12  put some numbers out there, for $10 million, we

         13  could, over the next three years, eventually have

         14  12,500 people insured.  Not all of them the first

         15  year.  Obviously, insurance, you enroll  --  by that

         16  projection, for example, we do 2,500 the first year,

         17  6,000.  And you still have the 2,500 from year one.

         18  And the final year, 12,500, you've still got the

         19  first two years. So we'd end up  --  again, year

         20  one, you've got a sum group.  Then you add more to

         21  the group, you add more to the group.  But with

         22  again, just using that math, 12,500 people insured

         23  at a cost of over three years, $10 million.  When

         24  likewise,   --  thank you Mark.  That must have been

         25  Mark  --  likewise, for $20 million, just to throw
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          2  out an example, using our subsidy model, over a

          3  three year period, we would finally have in that

          4  third year, over 20,000 people insured.

          5                 And each time we insure someone for

          6  $400, we are getting $2,500 worth of insurance.

          7  Remember, this is just the subsidy that gets an

          8  employer to pay some amount of the monthly premium.

          9  And the employee to have it out of pre- taxed

         10  income.

         11                 So every time you're doing this,  --

         12  just two final points, I'm sorry  --  you are  --

         13  with the small amount of that subsidy, $30 per

         14  person per month, the worker is getting a commercial

         15  insurance plan from GHI.  When the worker receives

         16  care at any New York City Hospital, and we have

         17  72,000, and every hospital is in our book, is in the

         18  GHI Tri- State provider network. When they go for

         19  care, the hospital gets the commercial GHI rate.

         20  This is important to providers.  Not a Medicaid

         21  rate.  Not a discounted rate, as has been eluded to,

         22  but a commercial rate, negotiated with the provider

         23  network by GHI.

         24                 So the leveraging affect here, we

         25  think, is really quite important.  For a small
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          2  subsidy, you get a real private sector commercial

          3  plan.  And the hospitals and providers are so

          4  reimbursed.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: I think that is a

          6  very, very important point.  Council Member Arroyo,

          7  I know, has a question. I just  --  very quickly.

          8  One, unlike the Manhattan and Staten Island

          9  Chambers, do you think a program like that would be

         10  successful in your boroughs?  Or, I mean  --  you

         11  seemed, Ms. Baran, you  --

         12                 MS. BARAN: We had actually pulled

         13  programs to see if that was something that we could

         14  mirror, and the reason we took the direction that we

         15  did was because we felt it would be difficult to be

         16  subsidized.  We actually met with GHI and they said

         17  to us, you know, we could run the same program that

         18  we run in Brooklyn, but you know, look out to see if

         19  you can get some corporate sponsors, maybe, to

         20  subsidize it.  And we didn't feel that we were in

         21  that position.  And we're already asking people for

         22  money to support our organization.

         23                 As far as will it help?  Absolutely.

         24  But I think it depends on how much money you can

         25  commit to and how long it will last.  I mean, as the
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          2  success of the program, that's why we took the

          3  direction that we took, because we felt that we're

          4  looking for some kind of option, and needed to do

          5  something, so that's why we went the route that we

          6  did.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Ms. Ploeger.

          8                 MS. PLOEGER: I would pretty much

          9  mirror what Linda said.  And I think, you know, as

         10  Ken's program has shown, you get a lower rate,

         11  you'll get them to sign up.  The bottom line, that's

         12  really the  --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: No surprise.

         14  Yes.

         15                 MS. PLOEGER: No surprise.  But the

         16  subsidizing, again, it just depends on where it's

         17  coming from, how long it can last.  And actually,

         18  also, how it really is implemented.  Some of the

         19  programs that  --  I think, you know, you really

         20  have to make sure that it's reaching the right

         21  people.  That the owner of the company can't be

         22  making gazillion dollars and the workers are making

         23  $20,000.  And he also gets subsidized.  There's a

         24  lot of ramifications to a subsidized program, which

         25  I'm sure Kenneth has figured out.  But you have to
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          2  be careful about that.

          3                 MS. BARAN: May I?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Please.

          5                 MS. BARAN: One other thing that I

          6  wanted to say is, I don't know how Ken administers

          7  that program, but most of us has small staffs.  I

          8  have a staff of seven.  So the plan that we looked

          9  into, we used a third party administrator.  So I

         10  mean, also in terms of subsidies, I mean, I don't

         11  know how the Chambers can be expected to run these

         12  types of programs with the small staffs that we

         13  have.

         14                 MR. ADAMS: May I?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Understood.  Yes.

         16                 MR. ADAMS: Begging for your

         17  forgiveness Mr. Chair. Just to respond to that, we

         18  work very closely with GHI.  This is a GHI

         19  commercial product.  Brokers, especially thanks to

         20  HealthPass, the City's marketing arm, with the

         21  HealthPass panel of insurance products or small

         22  businesses, do the marketing for us.  Brokers get a

         23  four percent commission, so small business  --

         24  people who sell insurance across the City get the

         25  commission from GHI.  It's built into the rate, like
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          2  a normal commercial product.  So they're happy to

          3  sell it.  And so, frankly, we have one person in our

          4  Chamber office who has done this for 700 people, and

          5  there's even in the rate, a small administrative fee

          6  that comes back to us so that we can pay Teresa

          7  Alverez's salary.

          8                 So again, because it's a commercial

          9  product, one can work with GHI and with brokers and

         10  with HealthPass, pulling together the partners so

         11  that there is a very low administrative burden.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And I'm sorry,

         13  just on the question that Ms. Ploeger raised.  Are

         14  there  --  what are the requirements of the firm to

         15  be eligible to participate?

         16                 MR. ADAMS: Our requirements are very

         17  much those of Healthy New York.  So again, there is

         18  a requirement that you meet a low- wage worker

         19  threshold.  And that's defined, as has been said

         20  previously, at 250 percent of the federal poverty

         21  level.  In real terms, that means you've got a third

         22  of your workers, what ever size, again, groups two

         23  to 50, but Councilman Sear's point, they're mostly

         24  smaller than the 50s.  But a third of your workers

         25  have to make under $34,000 a year.  That is not that
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          2  hard to satisfy with the businesses we're talking

          3  to.  So we don't have a lot of problem with that.

          4  We also now, our plan is open Citywide.  Again,

          5  enrollment is closed because we're out of subsidy

          6  money from our federal grant, but an earlier

          7  restriction to us had been certain areas of

          8  Brooklyn, and now, it's Brooklyn.  Effectively, it's

          9  Citywide.

         10                 Your Healthy New York requirements,

         11  we mirror those. I mentioned there was one other,

         12  which was 50 percent minimum premium paid by

         13  employer.  We are exempt from that.  Which is very

         14  helpful.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Great.  Council

         16  Member Arroyo.

         17                 And I'm sorry.  I want to welcome, of

         18  course, our colleague Darlene Mealy.  Council Member

         19  Arroyo.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Thank you Mr.

         21  Chair.

         22                 I'm not sure who the question is

         23  going to be for. So flip a coin.  The Healthy New

         24  York program is flawed.  I heard that in someone's

         25  testimony.  How does it get improved so that it can
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          2  be more of a benefit to small businesses?  That's

          3  one question. And the other one, I'm also concerned

          4  about a group that we're not talking about, where

          5  nonprofit organizations that have small numbers of

          6  employees, who also fall into this same net.  And

          7  are not, by definition, small businesses.  Are they

          8  included?  Yes? No?

          9                 MR. ADAMS: May I?  Pardon me

         10  panelists.  Just to address that, because we

         11  certainly  --  nonprofit organizations in the world

         12  of selling insurance, are just like any other small

         13  business.  So they, any nonprofit employer in New

         14  York State  -- and there's no distinction.  So

         15  nonprofits, by insurance, just the same way

         16  businesses do.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: So in the

         18  numbers that you gave earlier, are they included in

         19  the number of employees or individuals who are

         20  uninsured or --

         21                 MR. ADAMS: Employees of nonprofits?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Yes.

         23                 MR. ADAMS: Yes, certainly.  Although

         24   --  Yes. Remember, in New York City, employment in

         25  education, social assistance, health care  --  there
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          2  are huge, hundreds of thousands of people employed

          3  in those sectors.  And many of them are obviously

          4  insured.  You get into home health aides, and other

          5  separate issues apart from that, but in large, in

          6  small community nonprofits and organizations like

          7  our Chambers, we buy health insurance at the same

          8  rates that a for- profit law firm, or gas station

          9  might buy it.

         10                 And to your earlier question,

         11  Councilwoman Arroyo, the issue of Healthy New York,

         12  we actually  --  and I may differ here from some of

         13  the other speakers  --  at the Brooklyn Chamber of

         14  Commerce, we are very supportive of Healthy New

         15  York, which is a State program.  And before it

         16  existed, before it was set up, health insurance

         17  companies were really abandoning this market of

         18  small business.  They didn't want  --  insurance

         19  companies did not want to sell health insurance to

         20  small businesses, because they're always scared that

         21  they're going to have to pay great claims, and

         22  they're not going to be profitable.  And they're  a

         23  difficult industry for which to write health

         24  insurance.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: It is a
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          2  business, absolutely.

          3                 MR. ADAMS: Right.  But in any case,

          4  when it was established several years ago, the

          5  Healthy New York initiative, at a Statewide level,

          6  it forced these New York State insurance companies

          7  to create these plans for the small group market.

          8  And they've even done some marketing of it, and the

          9  Governor himself was doing  --  you may have seen TV

         10  commercials and so on for Healthy New York at some

         11  point.

         12                 Honestly, it got off to a slow start

         13  in terms of enrollment across the State.  But in

         14  recent years, it's picked up quite a bit.  The

         15  problem is that the insurance companies still raised

         16  the rates.  So the plans were created.  It's a

         17  network of plans that are made available across the

         18  State.  It is really created in partnership with the

         19  New York State Insurance Department, the regulatory

         20  agency that forced the insurers to create these

         21  plans.

         22                 But were it not for Healthy New York,

         23  we would not have been able to create our Brooklyn

         24  model, Brooklyn HealthWorks. Because, again, it's

         25  the  --  what we did, is we took Healthy New York,
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          2  one particular plan, a GHI plan, and customized it

          3  for Brooklyn.  And now, in fact, for the whole City.

          4                 Now, there are things that could be

          5  done, I'm sure, at a Statewide level to improve

          6  Healthy New York for communities across the State.

          7  But I just wanted to say, for the record, that it's

          8  been a very helpful foundation, or program upon

          9  which to build --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: What I heard

         11  is that it's flawed.  And the question is, what in

         12  it can be improved to make it a more useful tool to

         13  help  --

         14                 MR. ADAMS: The basic flaw in the

         15  Healthy New York program was alluded to earlier.  In

         16  the fact that the wage base on which it's built on,

         17  is built on the Statewide model.  And the fact that

         18  it's very difficult, having one third of your

         19  workers earning under $34,000  a year, in this

         20  environment, that wage is maybe the average for the

         21  State, and may be fine Statewide, but when you're

         22  dealing in the New York metropolitan area, it

         23  doesn't work.  That is the major issue that we have

         24  in Westchester, and --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: So it should
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          2  be higher?

          3                 MR. ADAMS: It should definitely be

          4  higher.  Or regionalized for the State.  Many of

          5  these things based on the federal poverty level,

          6  they apply them to the State.  And they're not

          7  regionalized for different cost of living levels.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Well that's

          9  certainly something our Chair can champion.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Yes, although I

         11  mean  --  I guess  --  I think that really merits a

         12  lot, some discussion.  I'll be honest, I don't  --

         13  wouldn't claim to understand the Westchester market

         14  at all.  I think that we do, and maybe it differs by

         15  borough.  I think that a number of our smaller

         16  businesses probably do meet that criteria, and I

         17  could be mistaken about that, but I think that you

         18  have a lot of the ten to 15 employee businesses that

         19  are paying, that's what they're paying folks.  At

         20  least their lower third.

         21                 MR. ADAMS: If you don't mind  --  I'm

         22  sorry  --  to just respond to that with some more

         23  numbers.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Yes.

         25                 MR. ADAMS: I said earlier that there
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          2  were 600,000 working New Yorkers without health

          3  insurance.  We believe 60 percent of them work in

          4  these small businesses, two to 50.  So that would be

          5  360,000.  And we believe that at least a third of

          6  those would meet this lower wage Healthy New York

          7  criteria.  So that's 120,000 people.  So even

          8  without changing any of the regulations, and without

          9  changing Healthy New York, we believe there are

         10  120,000 New Yorkers today, at work, earning a

         11  salary, in small businesses across the City, that

         12  don't have health insurance, but they do qualify.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: They qualify for

         14  Healthy New York, yes.

         15                 MR. ADAMS: They do qualify.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: And you know, you

         17  know, that may be more than we can reach.  I'm

         18  sorry, Ms. Ploeger, you  --

         19                 MS. PLOEGER: Okay.  I was just going

         20  to say, the other way in which I look at as being

         21  flawed is that it is for first- time insurers only.

         22  So that you cannot have had any health insurance

         23   --  is it 12 months?  Twelve months.  Within a

         24  year. So if I'm a small business, and I'm struggling

         25  to provide health insurance for my employees, and I
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          2  see this better plan over there, I can't go there.

          3  I have to drop health insurance, and not insure my

          4  employees for one full year before I can transfer to

          5  that program.

          6                 So they, in essence, are getting

          7  penalized.  And in my opinion, that's also where the

          8  program is flawed.  And where we could make some

          9  changes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Thank you Mr.

         11  Chair.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Okay.  I want to

         13  pursue that. Council Member Sears has a question,

         14  but I will return to that point, Ms. Ploeger,

         15  because I think that's really important.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you very

         17  much Mr. Chair.

         18                 At the risk of sounding very naive,

         19  and I recognize what Mr. Adams said about the

         20  difficulties and the challenges that you had to meet

         21  when you were looking for your Chamber.  Is it so

         22  difficult to pool together the five Chambers, the

         23  intellect and the energy, and actually pool together

         24  five grants that you should look to City Council and

         25  the federal government to provide?  Because numbers
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          2  are far stronger when you're pooled together, and

          3  why not come up with a package that then goes out to

          4  the bidding process? To the HMOs.  And with that,

          5  you would have  --  you cant' design packages for

          6  individuals.  That is something that would have to

          7  be done privately.  But it seems to me that every

          8  human being, everybody in this room, has a very

          9  standard need in health care. And a good part of

         10  this should be preventive medicine.  And that's what

         11  basically we should be looking at in health care

         12  packages. Unless you're dealing with very specific

         13  diseases that need hospitalization, what you're

         14  really dealing a lot with preventive medicine and

         15  emergency surgeries, which is something else.

         16                 Is that a very naive thing for me to

         17  look at?  The City contracts, and goes out to a bid

         18  process.  And they come out with the best numbers as

         19  they can.  Would that  --  and I recognize the

         20  energy, and I know that you don't have the manpower.

         21    That's why I'm saying, we need to look at each

         22  Chamber applying for a grant, and pooling that money

         23  together, which would have to be a full- time job

         24  for somebody to do, and to look at developing a

         25  package that then would be a very desirable bidding
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          2  process.

          3                 Because we're talking about huge

          4  numbers.  And we're talking about huge numbers that

          5  have never been insured before.  So am I being

          6  naive?  Or what?  Correct --

          7                 MS. PLOEGER: Both Kenneth and I --

          8  sorry, I'll just jump right over you  --

          9                 MR. ADAMS: You go first, please.

         10                 MS. PLOEGER: I think it's not being

         11  naive, because obviously, we've thought about this

         12  year after year, after year.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Alone.  Alone.

         14  You've thought about it alone.

         15                 MS. PLOEGER: No, no.  No, together.

         16  We've been  --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: But you haven't

         18  pooled all of you. That's just what I'm saying.

         19  You've used your energy.  You've used yours.  And

         20  you've come together.  But there are five good

         21  healthy Chambers.  Just go ahead.

         22                 MS. PLOEGER: No, that's okay.  But we

         23  have worked together in trying to do this in the

         24  past.  The problem is that none of the insurance

         25  companies  --  they will do this.  They will do this
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          2  in other parts of the State.  They do this in other

          3  states. But none of the insurance companies would

          4  come to New York City.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: They're not

          6  rushing to New York to do it, but you know what?

          7  Everybody loves to do business in the City of New

          8  York.  Ultimately, they do.  They shy away from

          9  health care to do that.  So perhaps we have to look

         10  at what are the temptations to bring them here.

         11                 MR. ADAMS: Councilwoman Sears, I want

         12  to sort of say a yes, yes, and a maybe to your

         13  questions.  It's mostly yes, yes, yes.  You know, I

         14  think that with the experience that we have had with

         15  GHI, been very, very cooperative, and a great

         16  working relationship with that one particular

         17  company, and we've worked with them for over five

         18  years.  And I'm not saying we would never issue an

         19  RFP to someone else, you know, because the rates do

         20  go up. And even this year, we had a 12 percent

         21  increase with GHI, and they wanted more.  But Mark

         22  Kessler, who runs our program, was able to get less.

         23                 The yes, yes part of response to your

         24  earlier question is that we certainly  --  we have

         25  set something up now that  --  since August, since
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          2  last Summer.  Because as I mentioned, we have the

          3  72,000 doctors in our network, and every New York

          4  City hospital.  Brooklyn HealthWorks could  --

          5  we're not so  --  I should say, we're partial to the

          6  name "Brooklyn", but in this case, we're not.  This

          7  could be Staten Island HealthWorks, Bronx

          8  HealthWorks, Manhattan HealthWorks, by all means,

          9  Queens HealthWorks.  Because the infrastructure is

         10  set up.  And it as long as we have the money for

         11  that premium subsidy, $30 per person per month,

         12  leveraging a full commercial plan for a year for

         13  somebody, yes, it can be expanded. Yes each one of

         14  our Chambers could put it out there.  Yes, each one

         15  would have the benefit of offering to our members

         16  and non- members alike.  You know, businesses across

         17  the boroughs would benefit from it.  So the answer,

         18  as I said to you, is yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: And what would

         20  you need to make that happen?  I mean, I talked

         21  about grants.  But what would you need?  And I'm not

         22  being facetious about this.

         23                 MR. ADAMS: Well, I think  --

         24  Chairman Yassky has suggested, and I was looking at

         25  some of the material prior to the hearing, that if
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          2  local government and for that matter, federal

          3  government, State government were willing to come up

          4  with funding for this subsidy,  --  now I would just

          5  elaborate a little bit, with some information I

          6  haven't provided yet, but we estimate that you

          7  basically take our subsidy now, if you said it was

          8  $400 per person per year, add ten percent to include

          9  advertising, marketing, and all the administrative

         10  fees, that's $440.  Now, again, just a little bit of

         11  math.  So how many people do you want to insure?  It

         12  determines how big you need to make that subsidy

         13  pool.  Again, built into that written, to that

         14  complete rate, the brokers will get their

         15  commission, GHI will administer, and people will get

         16  health care at all of the great health care

         17  institutions of this City.

         18                 The thing, one thing I like to point

         19  out, is that right now, in New York City, when

         20  someone goes to a New York City hospital, any

         21  hospital, without insurance, they're care costs, on

         22  average, it costs between $800 and $1,400.  So

         23  again, our point is, well, wouldn't it make more

         24  sense to spend $400 today and give a working New

         25  Yorker preventive care for a year, instead of
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          2  spending something like $1,200 to $1,400?  You know,

          3  too little, too late on the Emergency Room doorstep,

          4  and that person is missing work, not getting

          5  preventive care, very unproductive, and quite

          6  unfriendly, if you ask me.  If the public sector, if

          7  we, as taxpayers are going to make an investment in

          8  people's health care, we want to make it upstream,

          9  and provide preventive care.  Or do we want to wait

         10  until last minute and spend maybe three times as

         11  much and make that investment downstream, in an

         12  overcrowded Emergency Room?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I think you've

         14  raised, though, a far more complex issue.  Because

         15  subsidies are one issue.  And they leave out a good

         16  part of the population.  So I'm not so quick to look

         17  at subsidies.  And why I made the comment that I did

         18  earlier.  However, I do think that there is an

         19  opportunity to be able to pull together something

         20   --  and I really suggest that you look very

         21  strongly at applying for grants.  And I will speak

         22  to the Queens Chamber about that.  So that it would

         23  be dedicated to the pursuit of how we can expand and

         24  have a huge conglomerate of the five boroughs.

         25  Because actually, the Health Hospital Corporation is
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          2  one of the greatest providers of health care, at no

          3  cost, to those individuals that have no insurance,

          4  and are the working poor. We always forget the

          5  working poor, and it's an outrage that we do.

          6  Because they work full time and they work very hard.

          7

          8                 So we need to really and truly look

          9  at  --  and you could certainly be an important

         10  factor in that, and exactly how do we address the

         11  issue fairly, and reach those people that need to

         12  be.

         13                 And I have to say, without draining

         14  this year, the Health and Hospital Corporation needs

         15  an infusion of vast sum of money, and a good part of

         16  that is because the reimbursement to them is off

         17  balance, and has been off balance for many years,

         18  and the uninsured that they are treating, has

         19  increased enormously. Because they're assuming that

         20  responsibility and it comes right back to our table.

         21    And it comes right back to us in the budget

         22  process.

         23                 So as much as I think that we all do

         24  a great job, we need to really begin to explore

         25  creative areas.  And that's why I asked you that
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          2  question I did.  Thank you Mr. Chair.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Thank you Council

          4  Member.  Yes, Ms. Baran.  And then we're going to

          5  have one final question.

          6                 MS. BARAN: I just wanted to add,

          7  because when we brought all the brokers together, we

          8  talked about pooling the Chambers together.  And

          9  there's some legislation that precludes us from

         10  having an association health care type of program.

         11  So  -- and I'm not clear on it, but that was one of

         12  the reasons too.  Like I said, we originally

         13  followed up with Ken to see if it was something that

         14  we could do, and we couldn't.  But as far as

         15  pursuing that, there is some legislative  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Bear with me just

         17    --  the premise I think of your question, of

         18  Council Member Sear's question is that the buying

         19  power of your members, and

         20                 MS. BARAN: It's illegal, I believe.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY:  -- Maybe even if

         22  you said it was all of them together, you would be

         23  able to get a better deal than otherwise available.

         24  I guess, I'm wondering if that's plausible.  I mean,

         25  are you going to beat the kind of Healthy New York
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          2  deal, even if, under any circumstances?  That is a

          3  deal that-

          4                 MS. BARAN: That's the exact question

          5  we asked the brokers.  And they said no.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: They said, that's

          7  kind of my guess.  I mean, if I get it, this is a

          8  product of really, you know, kind of aggressively

          9  getting the insurance companies to offer a low- cost

         10  product that is already available because it's

         11  available to a large range of businesses.  I don't

         12  think you actually are getting  --  there's no more

         13  buying power to get than New York City --  New York

         14  State, rather  --  that meet this criteria.  That's

         15  a pretty big buying group  --

         16                 MS. BARAN: It would be cheaper as a

         17  subsidy.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: That's a pretty

         19  big buying group --  it's a buying group that's

         20  bigger than the membership of the five Chambers, not

         21  to diminish in any way, cast dispersions on the size

         22  of your membership, that's a bigger group already.

         23  So I'm not sure that that path  --  it wouldn't

         24  yield anything, I think would be my assumption.  And

         25  it sounds like you've done some inquiring there.  I
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          2  would assume that that assumption is correct.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: But you know,

          4  Mr. Chair, you might look at the legislation that

          5  you talked about.  Because you're very good at doing

          6  that.  And I think that that is something that

          7  should be explored.  Because New York City is pretty

          8  good at getting the State to do things that are best

          9  for New York City.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well, that makes

         11  sense.

         12                 MS. BARAN: It was a 1992 community

         13  rating changes that took place.  I believe.

         14                 MR. ADAMS: I would also  --  I'm

         15  sorry.  At least for me, and what I hope will be a

         16  final comment.  I'm sure you hope it will be a final

         17  comment.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well I have one

         19  question for the panel, that I hope will elicit a

         20  further comment.

         21                 MR. ADAMS: Just a background on

         22  Healthy New York. It is a subsidized product by the

         23  State, and unique in the sense that when the

         24  insurance companies were forced to provide this

         25  plan, they said, as someone alluded to, oh, no, we
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          2  don't want to do this. So the State reinsures

          3  Healthy New York plans, meaning that claims on any

          4  Healthy New York plan, from $5,000 to $75,000 are

          5  backed by State- provided reinsurance.  It was

          6  originally the tobacco settlement money.  It's now

          7  HICRA (phonetic) money.  So again, just not that I

          8  want to stand here and make a long- winded

          9  commercial about Healthy New York, but that is a

         10  unique reinsurance backup if you will, for claims on

         11  all those plans, which keeps the premium low.  And

         12  we could never negotiate that individually.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Yes.  Okay.

         14  Thank you.  That's a helpful additional point.  To

         15  Ms. Baran's point.  My last question really is, what

         16  you said Ms. Ploeger, is a really vexing question

         17  you raise.  Let's say that we were able to get the

         18  Mayor to agree and that it was, in fact, the bulk of

         19  Council Members, who wanted to try and put some

         20  dollars into health insurance.  The proposal that

         21   --  if the proposal were to expand essentially

         22  Healthy New York, in a way that HealthWorks has, but

         23  forget calling it HealthWorks, expand Healthy New

         24  York, bringing it  --  making it even a little bit

         25  cheaper, you correctly point out that that would be
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          2  limited only to new  --  only to businesses that

          3  don't currently provide health insurance.  Now, I

          4  want to get your  --  the whole panel's reaction to

          5  that, because on the one hand, I see from the point

          6  of view of the business person, who has been doing

          7  it, saying, that stinks.  I mean, I'm you know, been

          8  a good guy, and now, my competitor, who hasn't been,

          9  is able to get a better deal. On the other hand,

         10  from my perspective as a government official, I know

         11  that every person that enrolls is  --  every

         12  business that enrolls, those are people who now

         13  don't have insurance that are now going to have

         14  coverage.  And that's a real value.

         15                 So I guess I would just ask each of

         16  you for your off the cuff, or maybe you've thought

         17  about this prior, kind of how you weigh those, that

         18  criticism versus the supporting argument.

         19                 Why don't we just go right to left.

         20  Or left to right.

         21                 MR. ADAMS: It's important to remember

         22  that the Healthy New York requirement is that you

         23  have had no comprehensive health insurance for your

         24  employees in the past 12 months.  Not ever.  But in

         25  the past 12 months.  I still say that at least
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          2  120,000 low- wage, working poor, working New

          3  Yorkers, who meet that criteria in New York City.

          4  And I further say, that none of us here today is

          5  proposing one solution for the entire problem of the

          6  600,000 working New Yorkers without health

          7  insurance.  We can't do that.  And I think this

          8  hearing began with a comment that there is something

          9  far greater that has to happen in this country

         10  coming out of Washington on this issue.  We simply

         11  propose, from the Brooklyn Chamber of Commerce's

         12  standpoint, that as a short- term measure, to help a

         13  lot of people, who are in businesses where a plan

         14  was dropped, which is what's very common.  Either we

         15  never had insurance in this company, or we dropped

         16  the plan a few years ago. That that alone is a very

         17  big market of 120,000 working New Yorkers that we

         18  can assist.

         19                 Again, I would just simply remind all

         20  of us that we don't have a solution here for the

         21  entire problem.  We have to cobble together

         22  different solutions that address the whole issue in

         23  different ways, for different parts of the uninsured

         24  population.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Ms. Baran, do you
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          2  have thoughts on that?

          3                 MS. BARAN: I just wanted to say that

          4  in regards to the 12 months, yes, it is important.

          5  And one of the things, when we looked, as you said,

          6  we're all trying to look for our own little program,

          7  in our program, was that when somebody is in there,

          8  they can make a lateral move to a full comprehensive

          9  plan without any penalties to the HIPPA Certificate.

         10    So I think that people are, you know, the fact

         11  that the 12   --  there is that stipulation that,

         12  you know, I agree with you, that it would turn

         13  people away. And people that really should be

         14  covered wouldn't be covered.

         15                 MS. YASSKY: Ms. Ploeger, you

         16  suggested this earlier, but is that your  --  in

         17  fact, is it your position that yes, that's enough of

         18  criticism to not pursue that option, or no?

         19                 MS. PLOEGER: No, I'm not saying that.

         20    I'm just saying that it is a criticism, and that

         21  the program is flawed.  And I think that I know at

         22  the State level, and with some of the folks in the

         23  Mayor's Office, that everybody is trying to correct

         24  that. They're trying to fix that.  They're trying to

         25  get the Healthy New York program either to have less
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          2  of a stipulation, six months instead of 12 months,

          3  or to do away with that totally.  And they're

          4  measuring what kind of an affect that would have.

          5                 But again, you heard from some of the

          6  comments, and of course, we know we're not trying to

          7  fix the whole thing, but it is very hurtful and

          8  harmful to a small business who is struggling to

          9  provide that coverage, who may, in fact, be

         10  decreasing the ability to cover their employees, or

         11  for their employees to afford the premiums, and

         12  therefore, the employees are not going to take these

         13  premiums.  This is year after year, after year, of

         14  growth upon growth upon growth.

         15                 So that maybe that's another measure,

         16  a different approach that we take.  But there is

         17  still a very large population, in that sector too,

         18  who may be losing their health coverage because they

         19  can't afford it as the prices rise.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Mr. Michaels.

         21                 MR. MICHAELS: Our basic contention

         22  is, we'd like to see the 12 month removed entirely.

         23  But we know it's never going to happen.  So we've

         24  really come down and said that we would like to see

         25  it reduced to a three- month time limit.  We figure
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          2  that's reasonable.  If somebody can't afford it,

          3  it's within business, you can plan for that.  You

          4  can struggle through it to get there. Twelve months

          5  is too long.  You're uninsured for too long a period

          6  of time.

          7                 MR. ADAMS: I know I'm not supposed to

          8  do this.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Please.

         10                 MR. ADAMS: Just a reminder.

         11  Background again.  That the 12 month requirement is

         12  a fact of the insurance companies, of the

         13  underwriters.  They were dragged kicking and

         14  screaming into the Healthy New York program by

         15  Superintendent Serio (phonetic) and the Governor's

         16  Office at the time that it was created.  And they

         17  didn't --  as I said earlier, these insurers did not

         18  want to provide insurance in this small business

         19  market, which they perceived to be high risk.

         20                 And so, they don't want  --   they

         21  didn't want to put out cheaper plans and then have a

         22  mad rush to the bottom, as people dropped certain

         23  plans and went to the cheaper plans.  So they

         24  created this requirement.  I just want to say it's a

         25  requirement that comes from the insurance industry,
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          2  not from the State regulators or certainly, from the

          3  Governor's Office.  And I think we would all like to

          4  see it as a three- month, six- month, if it could be

          5  reduced, which would, I think, be a Herculean act of

          6  probably the regulators.  Which have very little

          7  regulatory power right now, which is a separate

          8  State issue, to set managed rate in New York State.

          9  I mean, this could be something left for a new

         10  Governor, but it's a very complicated Albany issue,

         11  driven by the insurance industry.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON YASSKY: Well thank you.

         13  I want to thank everyone on this panel.

         14                 I think this was just enormously

         15  enlightening and useful.  I really want to thank the

         16  Members of the Health Committee for joining with

         17  Small Business Committee in this inquiry, because I

         18  am  --  I do remain convinced that there is

         19  something useful that we can do.  And it's terrific

         20  that you gave this time to participate here.  So

         21  thank you.

         22                 I thank the panel, again.  And I note

         23  that the Administration folks have stayed here to

         24  hear the remainder of the testimony, which is not

         25  always the case.  And I really appreciate that,
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          2  because I think that helps pave the way for further

          3  discussion.

          4                 With that, the hearing is adjourned.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 4:35 p.m.)
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